## RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

01-06-2016

# COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

**DISTRICT II** 

Case No. 2015AP1598

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DANIEL G. SCHEIDELL,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING A MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AND VACATING THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR RACINE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JOHN S. JUDE, PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

### **INTRODUCTION**

In 1995, a jury convicted Daniel Scheidell of armed burglary and attempted sexual assault. The victim, J.D., who knew Scheidell as a social acquaintance, neighbor, and coworker, claimed that on May 20, 1995, Scheidell had entered her

apartment without her permission and attempted to rape her at knifepoint. At issue was the identity of J.D.'s attacker: although the attacker did not speak and wore a mask and head covering during the attack, J.D. immediately and unequivocally recognized the attacker as Scheidell. Scheidell, who is white, was 46 years old in May 1995.

Scheidell's defense was that J.D. was mistaken and that an unknown attacker could have entered J.D.'s apartment through an unlocked bathroom window. To support his defense, Scheidell sought to enter third-party other-act evidence of an armed burglary and rape of a different victim, K.C., that had occurred about four blocks away from J.D.'s apartment and about five weeks after the attempt on J.D., while Scheidell was in custody. At that point, K.C.'s assailant had not been identified, but K.C. claimed that he was wearing a mask and hood during the assault. K.C. believed her assailant was between 35 and 40 years old and white.

The circuit court, applying State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984), excluded the evidence, and a jury found Scheidell guilty. The case ultimately made its way to the Wisconsin Supreme Court. That court upheld the circuit court's decision excluding the evidence, concluding that the two attacks were not sufficiently similar to be probative of the identity of J.D.'s attacker and therefore were irrelevant. State v. Scheidell, 227 Wis. 2d 285, 308-10, 595 N.W.2d 661 (1999) (28; A-Ap. 177).

In 2014, Scheidell filed a motion for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence and in the interest of justice. His motion was based on DNA tests conducted on the rape kit from the K.C. assault, which identified Joseph Stephen, an African-

- 2 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Stephen is also referred to by an alias, Elliot Maddock, in the record (see 34:38; A-Ap. 156). Consistently with Scheidell's motion, the State uses the name "Stephen" throughout this brief.

American man who was 24 or 25 years old in 1995, as K.C.'s attacker. Scheidell argued that because K.C.'s attacker was now identified, the other-act evidence of K.C.'s assault was admissible under *Denny*. The circuit court agreed, granted a new trial, and vacated Scheidell's 20-year-old judgment of conviction. The State now appeals.

The circuit court's decision granting a new trial cannot stand for multiple reasons. The first is simple and dispositive: the circuit court improperly disregarded the Wisconsin Supreme Court's previous decision declaring the evidence of K.C.'s attack to be too dissimilar to be relevant. The circuit court did not explain how evidence establishing that K.C.'s attacker was Stephen, who looked nothing like Scheidell, somehow negated the law of the case and rendered the dissimilar nature of K.C.'s attack to be now similar to J.D.'s attack. This court may reverse on that ground alone.

To the extent that this court digs deeper, Scheidell's claim fails because he did not satisfy the opportunity and direct connection prongs of *Denny*. Moreover, the circuit court erred in determining that there was a likelihood of a different result.

And finally, the circuit court erroneously premised its decision granting a new trial in the interest of justice on the same faulty reasoning supporting its newly-discovered-evidence decision.

In short, the circuit court's decision cannot be salvaged under any reasonable reading of the law and facts. This court must reverse.

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Did the circuit court err in granting Daniel Scheidell a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, where:
  - a. Scheidell's "newly discovered" evidence was the attacker's identity from a third-party other act that the

Wisconsin Supreme Court had previously deemed in Scheidell's direct appeal to be too dissimilar from the charged crime to be relevant?;

- b. Scheidell presented no evidence establishing a direct connection between Stephen and J.D.'s attack and attempted to establish the opportunity prong of *Denny* with hearsay statements that Stephen was in Racine during the summer of 1995 and that he had little recollection of that time?;
- c. The circuit court held that there was a likelihood of a different result but:
  - i. In assessing the old evidence, it ignored the strength of J.D.'s testimony; the strength of the circumstantial evidence implicating Scheidell; and Scheidell's vigorous defense; and
  - ii. In assessing the new evidence, it assumed that the jury would also hear expert testimony on witness memory and perception and opining that Scheidell did not fit the profile of a sex offender, none of which was newly discovered nor admissible?
- 2. Did the circuit court improperly grant Scheidell a new trial in the interest of justice based on that same reasoning in its newly discovered evidence decision?

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication because the issues in this case can be resolved by applying established legal principles to the facts.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### 1. Pretrial motion and trial.

The State charged Scheidell with armed burglary and attempted sexual assault (2). The Wisconsin Supreme Court described the relevant undisputed facts as follows:

In August 1994, [J.D.] began working at the Chancery Restaurant where she met Scheidell. When [J.D.] and her two roommates were searching for a new apartment in May 1995, Scheidell remarked that two apartments in his building were unoccupied. Only one of the apartments was available, and [J.D.] moved into the one-bedroom, studio apartment on the ground floor of the building.

¶ 4 Scheidell was friendly with [J.D.], and stopped by to chat on occasion. Scheidell, who did work around the building, had obtained a key to [J.D.]'s apartment from the owner of the building. He had asked to keep the key to help paint her bathroom, and allowed a cable company employee into [J.D.]'s apartment while she was at work.

¶ 5 At 4:45 a.m., on May 20, 1995, [J.D.] awoke to the sound of the window blind falling onto her bathroom floor. She walked into the bathroom and noted that the casement window which she had left ajar for air was now open approximately one foot.

¶ 6 [J.D.] shut the window and attempted to go back to sleep. Approximately 30 minutes later, [J.D.] awoke with a man straddling her waist. The assailant was wearing a black, knit ski mask with holes for the eyes and mouth, and a nylon jacket draped around his head.

¶ 7 The assailant had pulled up her shirt, exposing her chest, he had his hand over her mouth, and she felt an object at her throat. When [J.D.] struggled to break free, he began hitting her in the face with an open hand and tried to pull off her underpants. She was able to get one hand free and began hitting her assailant.

¶8 [J.D.] testified that she could see his eyes and believed she recognized the assailant as Scheidell. She said his name and asked him what he was doing. The assailant hesitated for a few seconds, pulled back, and then started hitting her again. [J.D.] managed to push the assailant off her bed, but he shoved her back down to the

bed at which point she noticed that he had a knife with a serrated edge. During the struggle, [J.D.] called out "Danno," Scheidell's nickname, at least six times; each time the assailant hesitated and then resumed hitting her harder. She also managed to expose the left side of the man's face from the bottom of the eye to the top of the lip. Based on the assailant's distinctive body and walk, [J.D.] was certain her attacker was Scheidell.

¶ 9 [J.D.] was again able to kick the assailant away from the bed, allowing her to retrieve a pistol from her dresser. She pointed the pistol at the intruder and he lunged at her. She cocked the trigger, and she told the assailant that if he did not leave, she would shoot him. The assailant left her apartment having never uttered a word.

¶ 10 [J.D.] called the Racine police department to report the incident. When the police arrived, Scheidell was coming down the stairs and appeared to have just woken up. [J.D.] was brought into the hallway where she accused Scheidell of assaulting her.<sup>4</sup> An officer took Scheidell up to his apartment where Scheidell voluntarily gave a statement. After a limited search of Scheidell's apartment and the outside alley, the police arrested him.

<sup>4</sup>According to the testimony of Officer Stephen Hansen, [J.D.] accused Scheidell of assaulting her and she confronted him about having a key to her apartment. Scheidell responded, "How do you know they didn't come through the bathroom window. It's not locked." When asked by the police, Scheidell provided the key to [J.D.]'s apartment.

State v. Scheidell, 227 Wis. 2d 285, 288-90, 595 N.W.2d 661 (1999) (footnotes 2 and 3 omitted) (28:2-5; A-Ap. 170-71).

Before trial, Scheidell sought to admit other-acts evidence of a burglary and sexual assault committed by an unidentified man against another Racine woman, K.C., that occurred after the burglary and attempted assault on J.D. while Scheidell was in custody.<sup>2</sup> Again, the Wisconsin Supreme Court accurately set forth the pertinent facts:

According to the offer of proof, a police report, [K.C.] was attacked in her second floor apartment approximately five weeks after the attack on [J.D.] and approximately four blocks away. The offender, reportedly, a white male, age 35 to 40, with a thin build, entered through a previously damaged window, he was wearing some type of hood and possibly a white mask, and he used a butcher knife with a dull, rusty blade.

¶ 12 According to the proffer, at approximately 5:00 a.m., [K.C.] awoke with a hand on the bare skin of her back just above her buttocks. When she attempted to get up and turn around, the offender forced her back down by applying pressure to her back with his hand. The offender said, "Get down!" or "Stay down!" The voice sounded familiar, but [K.C.] could not identify her attacker. He then laid on top of [K.C.]'s back, and placed the knife on her neck. [K.C.] stated that she grabbed the knife and pushed it away without cutting herself, but the offender retained control of the knife and stayed on top of her.

¶ 13 [K.C.] begged the offender not to hurt her baby, he ordered her to "Stay down!" [K.C.] then told the offender to "Do whatever it is you've got to do. Please don't put it into my butt," to which he responded, "Okay." The offender completed the attack without vaginal or anal entry, and then got up and put his pants on. The offender asked [K.C.] her name, and then told her to "Put your head down. Keep your face down. Keep it down!" [K.C.] covered her head, and the offender covered her buttocks and legs with a blanket. He then fled through the broken window.

Id. at 290-92 (28:5-6; A-Ap. 171).

The circuit court excluded the evidence based on the test for admissibility under *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d 614 (69:37-44). It concluded that Scheidell failed to establish a direct connection under *Denny*, and that therefore the third-party other-act

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Scheidell did not appear to file a formal motion on the matter. Rather, the parties introduced the matter to the circuit court on the first day of trial, and the circuit court ruled on it before trial began (69:20-44).

evidence of K.C.'s assault was irrelevant and inadmissible (69:42-44).

The case proceeded to trial, after which the jury found Scheidell guilty of both charges (22). The circuit court sentenced Scheidell to a total of 25 years in prison (*id*.).

## 2. Direct appeal.

In a 1996 postconviction motion, Scheidell challenged the circuit court's pretrial *Denny* decision (23). The circuit court—the Honorable Emmanuel J. Vuvunas, who also presided over trial—denied the motion, stating that it was satisfied with its pretrial decision (73:19). It also stated that even if it had allowed Scheidell to present the other-acts evidence of K.C.'s assault, "the conviction still would have happened" given the strength of J.D.'s testimony and the State's case: "This witness was a compelling witness. She was a very believable witness. She was an excellent witness. The evidence in this case was not—the evidence was strong" (*id.*).

On appeal, this court reversed, holding that the circuit court should have allowed the evidence of the third-party assault based on its similarity and proximity to the attempted assault on J.D. (27).

The State pressed the issue to the Wisconsin Supreme Court, which reversed this court, holding that the circuit court was right for the wrong reason: instead of *Denny*, the circuit court should have applied *Whitty* and *Sullivan* to unknown-third-party perpetrator evidence. *Scheidell*, 227 Wis. 2d at 287-88 (28:11-13; A-Ap. 170). Applying that test, the supreme court concluded that the circuit court nevertheless rightly excluded the evidence of K.C.'s allegations, primarily because the evidence lacked sufficient similarity to J.D.'s claims and were thus irrelevant to the issue of identity. *Id.* at 308-10 (28:24-26; A-Ap. 177).

## 3. Collateral postconviction motion and hearing.

In 2013, Scheidell had DNA tests conducted on the kit from the K.C. assault, which was never prosecuted (33). The test produced a match to convicted sex offender Joseph Stephen, who was incarcerated for a 1999 sexual assault in Racine (34:Exh. J; A-Ap. 153-55).<sup>3</sup>

Based on that evidence, Scheidell filed a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion seeking a new trial based on the newly discovered evidence of Stephen's identity, and a new trial in the interest of justice (34; A-Ap. 119-67). Scheidell argued that because DNA testing identified Stephen as K.C.'s assailant, the evidence of K.C.'s allegations would satisfy *Denny* and would create reasonable doubt about Scheidell's guilt (34:2; A-Ap. 120). Scheidell also argued that the real controversy was not tried, i.e., the attacker's identity, because "the new DNA evidence . . . links [J.D.'s] attack to [K.C.'s] attacker" (34:21; A-Ap. 139).

At a hearing on the motion, Scheidell first presented testimony from a law student, Laura Davis, who testified that she interviewed Stephen in prison after the lab reported the DNA results (76:41; A-Ap. 184). At the first interview, Stephen told Davis that he had lived in Racine in the "summer of 1995," that he had used a lot of heavy drugs at that time, and that he could not remember much from that time (76:47; A-Ap. 190). He neither confirmed nor denied having attempted or committed the assaults on J.D. or K.C. but said, "DNA speaks for itself" (76:50; A-Ap. 193). He also told Davis to tell her client that he was sorry, although Davis did not explain what, if anything, Stephen said that he was sorry for (76:50; A-Ap. 193). In a second interview, Stephen ultimately refused to provide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> At the postconviction hearing, one of Scheidell's witnesses, Laura Davis, acknowledged that the 1999 sexual assault for which Stephen was convicted was factually "very" dissimilar from the assault on K.C. and the attempted assault on J.D. (76:58; A-Ap. 201).

any additional information to Davis, telling her that if he recalled anything about the assaults, he would "plead the Fifth" (76:52-53; A-Ap. 195-96).

Scheidell next presented expert testimony from Jeffrey Neuschatz, a psychology professor, who testified on research and studies on eyewitness testimony and memory (76:69-101; A-Ap. 212-44). Scheidell also presented expert testimony from Nick Yackovich, who did risk assessments of sex offenders (76:106; A-Ap. 249). Yackovich completed an assessment of Scheidell in 2014 and then extrapolated back to 1995 to opine, over the prosecutor's objections, that it was "much more likely that someone else other than [Scheidell] committed th[e] crime" against J.D. (76:140; A-Ap. 283).<sup>4</sup>

ADA Randy Schneider objected to Davis's statements as inadmissible hearsay that was too vague to be against Stephen's penal interest (76:47-49; A-Ap. 190-92). He objected to Neuschatz's testimony as irrelevant and not newly discovered (76:76, 102-03; A-Ap. 219, 245-46). He also objected to Yackovich's testimony as lacking foundation, involving improper speculation, being not newly discovered, and being inadmissible (76:119, 137-38, 140; A-Ap. 262, 280-81, 283). The

<sup>4</sup> Scheidell's proffered newly discovered evidence in his postconviction

motion was limited to the DNA results identifying Stephen as K.C.'s attacker (34:1-20; A-Ap. 119-38). Scheidell did not identify or discuss either Neuschatz's or Yackovich's analyses or their scientific bases as newly discovered evidence. At the hearing, Scheidell's counsel confirmed that the experts' testimony was not a separate newly discovered evidence claim but rather that it presented "new science" necessary to support its argument that the DNA evidence would more likely than not result in a different outcome (76:104, 119; A-Ap. 247, 262). But in its closing argument at the hearing, Scheidell's counsel told the court that she wanted "to refocus. . . .

<sup>[</sup>W]e have presented three witnesses today and had evidence come in" but reiterated that Scheidell's claim was a narrow one, i.e., "that we have newly discovered evidence from the DNA testing" establishing the identity of K.C.'s attacker (76:166; A-Ap. 309).

court "noted" most of those objections and withheld ruling on them (*see*, *e.g.*, 76:76, 103, 122; A-Ap. 219, 246, 265), but never expressly did so.

For his part, ADA Schneider entered photos of both Stephen and Scheidell from 1997 (76:158-60; 52; 53; A-Ap. 301-03, 168, 169). The photos showed that Stephen was 27, African-American, had brown eyes, was 5 feet 9 inches tall, and weighed 145 pounds; Scheidell was 48, white, had grey eyes, was 5 feet 11 inches tall, and weighed 161 pounds (*id.*). J.D. also testified. When shown Stephen's photo, J.D. denied having ever seen him before and stated that he was not the person who attacked her in 1995 (76:165-66; A-Ap. 308-09).

The court allowed briefing on the issue (54; 55) and issued its decision six months later granting Scheidell's motion on both newly discovered evidence and interest-of-justice grounds (57; A-Ap. 101-18). The State now appeals.

The State will present additional facts and details in the argument section below.

## **ARGUMENT**

## I. Scheidell is not entitled to a new trial based on newly discovered evidence.

To succeed on his newly discovered evidence claim based on the third-party other-act evidence of K.C.'s assault with Stephen identified as the assailant, Scheidell needed to satisfy the newly discovered evidence test, which involves multiple elements, many with their own sub-tests. In all, it is a hefty task for a defendant, especially one in Scheidell's position who wishes to enter third-party other acts evidence to prove the issue of identity.

To summarize the State's position in this appeal, Scheidell failed to satisfy the materiality prong of the newly discovered evidence test primarily because the supreme court already determined that the two assaults were dissimilar, and the evidence identifying Stephen did not change that conclusion. Alternatively, to the extent that this court explores the *Denny* test further, Scheidell failed to otherwise satisfy *Denny*'s direct connection and opportunity prongs. Finally, the circuit court erred in concluding that there was a reasonable probability of a different outcome.

A. To be entitled to a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a defendant must demonstrate that the newly discovered evidence is material and that there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome.

"Motions for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence are entertained with great caution." *State v. Morse*, 2005 WI App 223, ¶ 14, 287 Wis. 2d 369, 706 N.W.2d 152 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). This court generally reviews the postconviction court's decision on whether to grant a new trial based on newly discovered evidence for an erroneous exercise of discretion. *See id.* (citation omitted). But when, as here, the court that decided the postconviction motion did not preside at trial, this court "starts from scratch and examines the record de novo so that it can consider the facts directly on which the legal issue raised by motion depends." *State v. Herfel*, 49 Wis. 2d 513, 521, 182 N.W.2d 232 (1971).

"A defendant seeking a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence must establish, by clear and convincing evidence, that (1) the evidence was discovered after conviction, (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking to discover it, (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case, and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative." *State v. Vollbrecht*, 2012 WI App 90, ¶18, 344 Wis. 2d 69, 820 N.W.2d 443 (citations omitted).

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