STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

09-06-2016

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2015AP1598

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DANIEL G. SCHEIDELL, Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER GRANTING A MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL AND VACATING THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR RACINE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JOHN S. JUDE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

Carrie Sperling State Bar No. 1094464

Steven H. Wright State Bar No. 1090780

Wisconsin Innocence Project Univ. of Wisconsin Law School 975 Bascom Mall Madison, WI 53706 608.890.3540

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

state, again, does not allege that the circuit court applied the wrong law; instead, the state, again, asks this court to re-evaluate and re-weigh the evidence.

In finding that Scheidell established a connection between the assaults of KC and JD, the circuit court properly considered the points of similarity between the KC assault and the JD assault. The existing similarities, found by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, are, by now, well known.

	JD Assault	KC Assault
Crime Date	May 20, 1995	June 27, 1995 (Five weeks later)
Crime Time	Approximately 5:00 AM	Approximately 5:00 AM
Location	400 7th St. Racine, WI	922 Grand Ave. Racine, WI (Four blocks apart)
Victim	Single, young, white female	Single, young, white female
Disguise	Mask. Covered face with jacket	Mask. Covered face with jacket
Attacker Description, as described by victim	5'10 in height. White. Slender	5'10 in height. White. Slender
Intruder Entrance	Through window	Through window
Weapon Used	Knife	Knife

committed a different but similar crime. When a defendant offers similar acts of another to prove identity in this way, the *Sullivan* test asks whether the similarities between the two crimes are such that a signature could be seen between the two crimes. Similarities must be such that they reflect the imprint of the perpetrator. The *Sullivan* test creates a high hurdle for defendants attempting to introduce evidence of an unknown third-party perpetrator. Therefore, "[e]vidence of an unknown third party, who is alleged to have committed the crime charged, is most often deemed too speculative to be admissible." <u>Wilson</u>, 362 Wis. 2d 193 ¶ 106 (Ziegler, J., concurring).

Assault Type	Attempted sexual assault by genital or anal contact	Attempted sexual assault by genital or anal contact
Assault Method	Attacker straddled victim in her sleep	Attacker straddled victim in her sleep

(A-Ap. 11); <u>Scheidell</u>, 227 Wis.2d at 308.

In addition, during post-conviction litigation, the court learned several newly-discovered additional similarities. JD identified her attacker by looking at his eyes, and she testified that her attacker's eyes were brown. (65:15)(69:181). The state presented evidence that Scheidell had gray eyes. (A-Ap. 302-303); (A-Ap. 168)(Scheidell eye color). Stephen has brown eyes, matching JD's description of the masked attacker. (A-Ap. 169)(Stephen eye color). Therefore, this fact---that Stephen has the same eye color as the JD attacker---constitutes important newly discovered evidence.

Second, the circuit court heard testimony that only a small percentage of individuals could commit the JD assault. At the post-conviction hearing, Dr. Yackovich gave context to the similarities between the two assaults. Through this testimony, the court learned several new persuasive similarities.

- "home intruder rape by someone with a mask and knife is a very small percent of the overall rapes that at least we are aware of." (A-Ap. 112)(circuit court opinion quoting testimony).
- The similarities between the two attacks were more than coincidence (A-Ap. 112-13).
- The two attacks shared a ritualistic element. (A-Ap. 112-13).
- "it is less likely that two separate individuals committed the attacks." (A-Ap. 112-13).
- The dissimilarities were insignificant, "less impactful" (A-Ap. 277).

• "it would be much more likely that someone else other than Dan committed [the J.D. assault]." (A-Ap. 283).

In short, Dr. Yackovich made clear that only a small portion of the population could have committed these assaults. This observation is important. In <u>Vollbrecht</u>, the post-conviction court found a direct connection, in part, because "[O]nly a minute percentage of the male population would desire to sexually assault a woman...." <u>Vollbrecht</u>, 344 Wis. 2d 69, ¶34 (quoting the post-conviction court).

The court, in the present case, analyzed both the new and existing points of similarities, and, therefore, the court concluded that Scheidell demonstrated a direct connection between the assaults of KC and JD. Facing this new compelling evidence, the state, on appeal, makes two weak arguments.

First, the state argues that the lower court ignored the law of the case. This argument is completely without foundation. The law-of-the-case doctrine recognizes that "a decision on a legal issue by an appellate court establishes the law of the case, which must be followed in all subsequent proceedings in the trial court or on later appeal." <u>Univest Corp. v. Gen. Split Corp.</u>, 148 Wis.2d 29, 38, 435 N.W.2d 234 (1989). "In days past, Wisconsin rigidly followed the law of the case, refusing to touch issues previously determined, but that is no longer the case." <u>State v. Stuart</u>, 262 Wis. 2d 620, ¶ 24. The law-of-the-case doctrine "is not an absolute rule that must be inexorably followed in every case." <u>Moeck</u>, 280 Wis. 2d 277, ¶25.

The courts have identified a series of instances in which the doctrine does not apply. Courts, in fact, have "disregarded the rule of 'law of the case' in the interests of justice." <u>Id</u>. ¶25. Courts have also disregarded the lawof-the-case doctrine when the court receives new facts and evidence. <u>Stuart</u>, 262 Wis. 2d 620, ¶ 24 (holding that the law-of-the-case doctrine does not apply to instances with "substantially different evidence"). Further, the courts have disregarded the doctrine when the appellate court and the trial court decided different questions. *See e.g.* <u>Univest Corp</u>, 148 Wis.2d at 38-39.

Here, the circuit court granted the motion in the interest of justice. Therefore, the doctrine should not apply. Here, the court received a slew of new, substantial, and different evidence. Therefore, the doctrine should not apply. Lastly, the circuit court decided a substantially different question than the question decided by the Supreme Court. In 1998, the Wisconsin Supreme Court assessed the admissibility of evidence that an unknown perpetrator committed the crime under a <u>Sullivan</u> analysis. The issue presented now is the admissibility of evidence that a known perpetrator committed the crime under a <u>Denny</u> analysis. Therefore, and again, the law-of-the-case doctrine should not apply.

The state also makes the weak argument that Dr. Yackovich's testimony was not newly discovered evidence. This, too, is plainly untrue. The circuit court recognized that Dr. Yackovich "testified about significant developments in the field of sex offender profiling which have occurred over the past 20 years." (A-Ap. 116). In fact, Dr. Yackovich made clear that, since 1995, researchers have gained new and significant insight into the methods by which inaccurate identifications and memories form. (A-Ap. 261-62). Dr. Yackovich applied this new research to reach his conclusions.

Therefore, both state's arguments should fail.

In conclusion, the circuit court learned facts that directly connected Stephen and the JD assault. The circuit court held that these new similarities, combined with the existing similarities, established a direct connection between Stephen and JD. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit's court's conclusion that the new evidence was material.

B. The circuit court, which both heard extensive testimony and received DNA results, properly exercised its discretion by concluding that a reasonable probability existed the jury would have a reasonable doubt as to Scheidell's guilt.

The circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in finding that Scheidell's newly discovered evidence created "a reasonable probability . . . that had the jury heard the newly-discovered evidence, it would have had a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt." <u>State v. Plude</u>, 2008 WI 58, ¶ 32, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 750 N.W.2d 42. Using <u>Plude</u> as its guide, the circuit court found that a reasonable probability existed that the "jury, looking at both the [old evidence] and the [new evidence], would have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt." (A-Ap. 113).

In determining whether, a reasonable probability exist, the court asks, in the face of the new evidence, whether the defendant "received a fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence." <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995). That is, the court asks whether the new evidence "undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial." <u>Id</u>. The question is not "whether the defendant would more likely than not have received a different verdict with the evidence." <u>Id</u>.

The post-conviction court considered how the newly discovered evidence impacted all the other evidence in the case. (A-Ap. 113-17). In assessing the old and new evidence, the post-conviction court found that the new evidence gave Scheidell the ability to construct an alternative theory. (A-Ap. 114). And given the new information on the identity of the alternative suspect, Scheidell would be able to subpoena him as a witness. (A-Ap. 114). Scheidell would be able to introduce evidence that Stephen committed two sexual assaults in Racine during that time period,⁷ one of them strikingly similar to

⁷ Wis. Stat 904.04(2)(b).

the crime at hand. The jury would then be able to weigh the credibility and demeanor of the witnesses when determining the ultimate question in the case. (A-Ap. 114).

The new evidence completes Scheidell's narrative and sets up a comparison that favors Stephen's guilt. The circuit court, in reaching this conclusion, did not err.

1. The old evidence was weak.

The post-conviction court observed that the state, at trial, presented a "paucity of evidence." (A-Ap. 114). The police never found any physical evidence linking Scheidell and the assault. Scheidell never made any incriminating statements. The post-conviction court correctly observed: "the sole evidence to support the verdict against Scheidell is the identity evidence from the victim." (A-Ap. 111).

At trial, the jury received evidence that discredited the victim's identification. JD never saw her attacker's face or hairline because he wore a mask and a nylon jacket draped across his head. (A-Ap. 103). She only saw his eyes and part of his cheek. (A-Ap. 103). She never heard her attacker's voice. (69:164). The attack occurred in the dark, and JD did not wear her eyeglasses. (69:192).

Further, the identification suffered from other weaknesses. JD claimed her attacker was drunk or "on something." (69:191). And, yet, when police interviewed Scheidell less than an hour after the assault, police found no indication he had been intoxicated. (A-Ap. 6). In fact, Scheidell looked as though he just awoke. (A-Ap. 6). JD struggled with her attacker, finally fighting him off and chasing him out of her apartment. (A-Ap. 4) And, yet, police found that Scheidell was neither bruised nor scratched nor flush nor out-of-breath. (A-Ap. 6).

To be clear, police searched Scheidell's apartment. Police searched his kitchen, garbage, basement, outside alley, up and down the stairwell, under his bed, in his laundry basket, in his bedroom. (A-Ap. 6). The police found no physical evidence linking Scheidell to the attack. (A-Ap. 6). The police later conducted a second search. (A-Ap. 6). The police found no relevant evidence. (A-Ap. 6).

2. The new evidence is strong and compelling

The circuit court heard several pieces of newlydiscovered evidence.

First, and perhaps most importantly, the court learned the identity of KC's attacker. DNA conclusively proved that Stephen assaulted KC. This KC attack, as the trial court noted, is strikingly similar to the JD assault. (A-Ap. 101) (A-Ap. 108).

Second, the court placed weight upon testimony of Dr. Jeffrey Neuschatz, an expert in eyewitness identification. Neuschatz discussed scientific research exploring evewitness identification and victim memory: two areas of research that have developed significantly within the past twenty years. (A-Ap. 240-41) (Neuschatz testimony);(A-Ap-115)(circuit court order and opinion). Neuschatz applied this research to reach his conclusion that several factors could contribute to a victim's misidentification of her attacker: these factors include "poor lighting conditions, the stressful nature of the incident, the presence of a weapon, and the covering of the assailant's face." (A-Ap. 116). Specifically, Neuschatz shared new research that shows stressful situations may cause a victim to misidentify and misremember faces. (A-Ap. 223-227). Victims, such as JD, have trouble accurately remembering faces when the victim "fears that they are going to be harmed or that they are in fear for their life." (A-Ap. 226). Further, a victim may suffer from weapon focus. Weapon focus, in the words of the court, "draws attention from the attacker and focuses the attention on the weapon." (A-Ap. 116).8

⁸ The Wisconsin Supreme Court has acknowledged that eyewitness testimony is "often hopelessly unreliable," and that misidentification is "the single greatest source of wrongful convictions in the United States." <u>State v. Dubose</u>, 2005 WI 126, ¶ 30, 285 Wis. 2d 143, 163, 699 N.W. 2d 592.

Third, the new evidence included the testimony of Dr. Yackovich. This evidence, already described in detail, had three significant takeaways. First, Scheidell is unlikely to have committed this assault. Second, whoever attacked KC most likely attacked JD. Third, only a small portion of the population could commit either assault.

Fourth, Laura Davis testified that she interviewed Stephen. Stephen explained that he lived and worked in the Racine area from in 1995 until his conviction in 1999. (A-Ap. 191-192). Further, Stephen did not deny involvement in the crime when provided an opportunity to do so. (A-Ap. 193). Instead, he apologized to Scheidell. (A-Ap. 193).

Fifth, JD identified her attacker by looking at his eyes, and she testified that her attacker's eyes were brown. (65:15)(69:181). First, the record shows that Scheidell has grey eyes. (A-Ap. 168)(Scheidell eye color). But, upon learning the identity of Stephen, the postconviction court learned that Stephen has brown eyes. This fact---that Stephen has the same eye color as the JD attacker---constitutes important newly discovered evidence. (A-Ap. 302-303);(A-Ap. 169)(Stephen eye color).

Therefore, weighing the old evidence and the new evidence, the circuit court did not erroneously exercise it discretion in concluding that a reasonable probability existed that the jury would have a reasonable doubt as to Scheidell's guilt.

Of the first 200 persons exonerated through DNA, 158 (79%) involved eyewitness misidentification. B. Garrett, <u>Judging</u> <u>Innocence</u>, 108 Colum. L. Rev. 55, 60 (2008). This problem appears to be particularly prevalent in violent sexual crimes. A University of Michigan study of 340 exonerations revealed that mistaken eyewitness identification was involved in 88% of rape and sexual assault wrongful convictions. S. Gross, et al., <u>Exonerations in the United States</u>, 1989 Through 2003, 95 J. of Crim. Law & Criminology 523, 530 (2005).

C. Conclusion

The circuit court found the new evidence is material; the court also found that the new evidence creates a reasonable probability that a jury would have a reasonable doubt about Scheidell's guilt. The court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when reaching these conclusions. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court's grant of a new trial based upon newlydiscovered evidence.

II. The circuit court properly granted Scheidell a new trial in the interest of justice, because the circuit court, after both hearing extensive testimony and receiving DNA results, did not erroneously conclude that the issue of identity was never fully tried.

Courts may also grant a new trial in the interest of justice. To do so, Scheidell must prove either: "the real controversy has not been fully tried" or "it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried." <u>State v. Hicks</u>, 202 Wis.2d 150, 160-161, 549 N.W.2d 435 (1996). The circuit court found that Scheidell satisfied the first prong. (A-Ap. 117-118).

The state argues that, in reaching this conclusion, the circuit court erred. The state's undeveloped argument should fail. First, the state failed to timely object and present arguments against this claim in the circuit court. Second, the state fails to offer any facts or law or reason to substantiate this claim. Third, the state, again, can seek no refuge in the law of the case.

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